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SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 

The Grand Jury charges: 

Introduct01y Allegations 

At all times relevant to this Indictment, unless otherwise stated: 

1. The defendant CURTISS E. JACKSON ("C. JACKSON") resided in 

the District of Hawaii and served in the roles of Chief Executive Officer, Chief 

Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary, and Chairman of the Board of Directors of a 

company called Semisub, Inc. ("Semisub"), which C. JACKSON had founded. 

2. The defendant's co-conspirator, Jamey Denise Jackson ("D. Jackson" 

or the defendant's "co-conspirator"), also resided in the District of Hawaii and 

served in the role of President ofSemisub. D. Jackson was married to C. JACKSON. 

3. In their respective capacities, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator, D. 

Jackson, controlled and directed all aspects of Semi~ub's business and operations, 

including the offering and sale of Semisub securities, use of funds raised from the 

sale of Semisub securities, and communication with actual and prospective 

purchasers of Semisub securities. The defendant and his co-conspirator also 

controlled Semisub's Bank of Hawaii and other bank accounts. 

4. Semisub was a Nevada corporation with its principal place of business 

in Honolulu, Hawaii. From its formation until at least in or around 2021, C. 

JACKSON and his co-conspirator controlled Semisub. Semisub was formed in 2009 

2 

Case 1:22-cr-00093-JMS   Document 126   Filed 10/12/23   Page 2 of 36  PageID.687



as a successor to a California corporation with the same name that had been founded 

by C. JACKSON in 2003. Semisub purportedly engaged in the business of 

developing, building, selling, and operating semisubmersible vessels. 

5. Semisub LLC (the "LLC") was organized in Califmnia with its 

principal place of business in Honolulu, Hawaii. The LLC was founded by C. 

JACKSON in 2003. The LLC was owned and controlled by C. JACKSON and his 

co-conspirator. The LLC's stated purpose was to build Semisub's first vessel, . 

named "Semisub One," as well as a fleet of additional vessels that Semisub would 

market and sell to customers worldwide. 

6. From a time unknown but no later than 2005, and continuing through 

at least in or around 2021, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator raised money from 

investors by selling securities, including common stock, preferred stock, and 

promissory notes issued by Semisub, as well as membership interests in the LLC. 

In 2008, the Pennsylvania Securities Commission issued an order that prohibited 

Semisub and C. JACKSON from offering and selling securities in Pennsylvania. In 

2009, the California Depaiiment of Corporations determined that C. JACKSON had 

made, or caused to be made, material misrepresentations or omissions in connection 

with the offer or sale of securities and entered an order that prohibited Semisub and 

C. JACKSON from offering or selling securities in California. C. JACKSON and 

his co-conspirator neve1iheless continued to sell securities, and to cause securities to 
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be sold, to investors across the United States, including to investors in Pennsylvania 

and Calif01nia in violation of both states' orders. In total, C. JACKSON and his co­

conspirator raised over $28 million from more than 400 investors. 

Overview of the Scheme to Defraud Investors 

7. From a time unknown but no later than 2008, and continuing through 

at least in or around 2021, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator, together with others 

known and unknown to the Grand Jury, on the island of O'ahu, within the District 

of Hawaii, and elsewhere, engaged in a fraudulent scheme to obtain money and 

property by deceiving purchasers of Semisub securities about Semisub's business 

and operations, including Semisub's revenue and expenses. 

Purpose of the Scheme to Defraud 

8. The purpose of the scheme was for C. JACKSON and his co-

conspirator to enrich themselves by: (i) making materially false and misleading 

statements to investors relating to Semisub's business and operations, including 

Semisub's revenue and expenses; (ii) concealing from investors the true facts; (iii) 

diverting the proceeds of the scheme for their personal use and benefit; and (iv) 

concealing the scheme from regulators, law enforcement, and investors. 

Manner and Means of the Scheme to Defraud 
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9. To induce investors to purchase Semisub securities, C. JACKSON and 

his co-conspirator made, and caused to be made, numerous materially false and 

misleading statements about Semisub to investors. These false and misleading 

statements were made by C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator in: (i) direct 

exchanges with investors over the telephone in one-on-one conversations and 

conference calls; and (ii) written materials that C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator 

authored, reviewed, approved, issued, and distributed directly via the mails and 

Inte1net, and indirectly through telemarketers who sold Semisub stock via telephone 

and e-mail at the direction of C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator in exchange for 

sales-based commission. The written materials containing the false and misleading 

statements included offering documents, executive summaries of offering 

documents, investor updates, and emails. C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator 

instructed investors to mail payments for Semisub securities to Semisub at 

Semisub's offices in Honolulu, Hawaii, or to wire payments directly into Semisub's 

Bank of Hawaii accounts, which C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator controlled. 

C. JACKSON's and His Co-Conspirator's Materially False and Misleading 
Statements and Omissions About 

the Use of Funds Raised by Selling Semisub Securities 

10. C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator falsely represented to investors 

that Semisub had used, and would continue to use, the funds it raised by selling 

securities principally to make loans to the LLC to complete constluction ( and begin 
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subsequent operation) of Semisub One and to build a fleet of additional vessels, and 

that the LLC had agreed to pay Semisub 10 percent annual interest. C. JACKSON 

and his co-conspirator further misrepresented to investors that the LLC would repay 

all outstanding principal and accrued interest on the loans made to the LLC by 

Semisub before the LLC made any distributions to its members (namely, C. 

JACKSON and his co-conspirator). At various times, C. JACKSON and his co­

conspirator made specific false statements about the amount of proceeds that 

Semisub had purportedly loaned to the LLC. 

11. In truth and in fact, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator knew the 

proceeds raised from the sale of Semisub securities had not been used, and would 

not be used, as described by C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator to investors. 

Semisub did not make loans to the LLC, the LLC did not pay any interest to Semisub, 

and C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator did not wait until the LLC had repaid 

Semisub in full to take distributions for themselves. Rather, C. JACKSON and his 

co-conspirator deposited the proceeds into Semisub's Bank of Hawaii and other 

bank accounts and used a substantial portion for their own personal benefit, 

including to pay for luxury residences in California and Hawaii, a Mercedes-Benz 

automobile, luxrny vacations, psychics, marijuana, personal credit card bills, and 

cash withdrawals for their personal use, among other things. 

12. C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator concealed from investors material 
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infmmation about the anticipated and actual use of proceeds from the sale of 

Semisub securities, including the fact that they were using a substantial p01tion of 

the proceeds for their own personal benefit. For example, C. JACKSON and his co­

conspirator refused to provide historical financial inf01mation to investors who 

inquired about Semisub's financial condition or otherwise asked C. JACKSON and 

his co-conspirator to provide an accounting of how investor money was being spent. 

Such omissions made materially misleading C. JACKSON's and his co­

conspirator' s statements about how they used and anticipated using the proceeds and 

that they would receive distributions only when Semisub was repaid its interest and 

principal by the LLC. 

13. To the extent that C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator provided any 

financial infmmation to investors, it was limited to proformas describing expected 

future operating costs and profits. However, the pro formas were materially 

misleading by omitting any reference to C. JACKSON's and his co-conspirator's 

ongoing use of investor money for C. JACKSON's and his co-conspirator' s own 

personal benefit. For example,pro formas sent to investors during the relevant time 

period purported to present Semisub's expenses but did not include the amounts C. 

JACKSON and his co-conspirator spent on themselves. 

14. To avoid being held responsible for defrauding investors and stealing 

their money, in or around 2019, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator falsely told 
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investors it would be in the investors' and Semisub's best interests if the investors 

signed agreements: (i) canceling the "large debt" the LLC purportedly owed to 

Semisub as a result of the loans described above; and (ii) releasing C. JACKSON 

and his co-conspirator from any liability and holding them harmless for any past acts 

which may make C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator party to a civil or criminal 

proceeding. According to an update that C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator 

emailed to investors on or about August 20, 2019, canceling the debt would give the 

Semisub and the LLC "[c]lean financials [which] make it easier to engage in joint 

ventures with other partners[,]" and the hold haimless and release agreements were 

"necessary to have on record so that the LLC and [Semisub] can approach potential 

joint ventures, venture capitalists, and lenders in order to scale up the profitability 

and world-wide reach of the LLC and [Semisub]." 

15 . The statements in paragraph 14 were materially misleading because C. 

JACKSON and his co-conspirator failed to disclose that Semisub had not made any 

loans to the LLC, that they had used a substantial pmiion of the funds raised by 

selling Semisub securities for their own personal benefit, and that they had asked the 

investors to sign the agreements out of concern for their own self-interest and not 

for the benefit of the investors. 

C. JACKSON's and His Co-Conspirator's Materially False and Misleading 
Statements About the Completion of Semis uh 's First Vessel 

16. Since at least in or around 2009, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator 
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repeatedly made materially false and misleading statements to investors representing 

that Semisub One was mere weeks or months away from beginning operations. For 

example, in an offering document dated December 30, 2009, C. JACKSON and his 

co-conspirator falsely claimed that Semisub One was approximately 90% built and 

that Semisub only needed two more months and $500,000 more in investor funds to 

complete construction and sea trials, and obtain the Certificate of Inspection ( or 

"COI") from the U.S. Coast Guard required for Semisub One to begin operating 

sightseeing tours that could potentially generate revenue. 

17. In truth and in fact, Semisub One was not two months away from 

beginning operations and generating revenue, and C. JACKSON and his co­

conspirator continued to raise money well in excess of the $500,000 they had 

claimed they needed to co·mplete the vessel and misused a substantial portion of 

those investor funds for their own personal benefit. 

18. Over the next ten years, to perpetuate the fraud and support their lavish 

lifestyle, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator repeatedly misled investors about 

Semisub One's status, routinely telling investors that Coast Guard certification was 

weeks or months away and soliciting more funds from investors to help Semisub 

meet its new timetables. C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator knew these statements 

were false and misleading because the information that had been communicated to 

them by the Coast Guard said otherwise. C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator used 
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these false and misleading statements to repeatedly approach ( or "reload") 

individuals who had already invested in Semisub with the false promise that by 

investing more of their money, these individuals could help avoid a loss on their 

initial investments and earn an even greater rate of return. 

19. For example, on August 23, 2018, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator 

emailed an update to investors falsely stating: "We intend to have a soft opening 

within the next three weeks and will schedule a celebration and grand opening 

approximately 30 days after that." C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator knew this 

statement was false and misleading because the timetable the Coast Guard provided 

to C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator was different than the timetable that they 

presented to investors. On August 15, 2018, the Coast Guard notified C. JACKSON 

that it hoped to begin its review of Semisub One's electrical drawings on August 17, 

2018, and would have 30 days to review the submission. If the Coast Guard 

approved the drawings, then Semisub still would need to have the electrical system 

physically inspected and approved by the local Coast Guard office. 

20. On November 13, 2018, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator emailed 

another update to investors falsely stating: "I am happy to let you know that Semisub 

One is completed. We intend to put Semisub One into operations by the end of this 

month at Aloha Tower." 

21 . C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator knew these statements were 
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materially false and misleading because the Coast Guard had not certified Semisub 

One and the vessel could not begin operations by November 30, 2018. On October 

29, 2018,just two weeks before sending the November 13, 2018 investor update, C. 

JACKSON and his co-conspirator received a letter from the Coast Guard Officer in 

Charge of Marine Inspection in Honolulu.denying Semisub's then-latest request for 

an inspection because Semisub had failed to meet Coast Guard requirements on 

dozens of occasions: 

Prior to my inspectors attending your vessel, I am requiring that you 
provide written attestation from a licensed Professional Engineer 
verifying that the vessel is built and all systems installed in accordance 
with U.S. Coast Guard approved plans. Since June 2017, marine 
inspectors have attended your vessel 3 8 times for vessel plan 
verification. Each time the inspectors provided a detailed list of 
discrepancies found on the vessel. Further, numerous visits to the vessel 
highlighted that local installations on the vessel did not match U.S. 
Coast Guard approved plans. As recent as October 9, 2018, inspectors 
from my office attended your vessel and provided you with a list of 
discrepancies regarding the AC/DC electrical installation on board the 
vessel. Marine inspectors found the local installation did not match the 
recently revised drawings approved by the U.S. Coast Guard Marine 
Safety Center. 

C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator did not disclose to investors the October 29, 

2018 Coast Guard letter. 

22. In the two weeks following C. JACKSON's and his co-conspirator' s 

materially false and misleading November 13, 2018 update email to investors, they 

scheduled investor conference calls and sent a further update email in which they 

made a limited-time offer to existing investors to purchase additional shares of 
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Semisub securities at a fraction of the price that C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator 

purportedly planned to charge new investors as part of a subsequent new offering. 

C. JACKSON's and His Co-Conspirator's Materially False and Misleading 
Statements About the Construction and Sale of Semisub's Fleet of Additional 

Vessels 

23. To futiher perpetuate the fraud and support their lavish lifestyle, C. 

JACKSON and his co-conspirator repeatedly made materially false and misleading 

statements about the construction and sale of Semi sub's purported fleet of additional 

vehicles, which C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator referred to as "Semisub Two 

through Semisub Thirty+." C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator misrepresented 

the progress Semisub had purpmiedly made working with Viking Systems, Inc., a 

structural engineering firm, falsely telling investors that the production model was 

nearly complete and that the additional vessels could be built within a matter of 

months. C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator also misrepresented that Semisub had 

relationships with, and in some instances had entered into agreements to sell vessels 

to marquee customers, like the United States Depatiment of Homeland Security 

("DHS"), the National Parks Service's Pearl Harbor National Memorial ("Pearl 

Harbor"), and the University of Hawaii's Marine Biology Department. C. 

JACKSON and his co-conspirator also falsely stated that Semisub had developed 

relationships with deep-pocketed private equity firms, like BlackRock, Inc. 

("BlackRock"), that th~y claimed were actively helping to suppmi and patiner with 
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Semisub to grow its business. C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator told investors 

that the sale of these additional vessels would result in a profit of $25 .5 million per 

vessel, making the sales Semisub's primary source of future revenue. 

24. For example, on June 9, 2017, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator 

emailed an update to investors falsely stating: 

We are working with Viking, our engineering firm, to complete the new 
production model of Semisub Two through Semisub Thirty+. There 
will only be some slight structural changes done. All other systems will 
stay the same. With the twenty plus approved systems on the vessel, we 
will only need one additional new approval from Washington DC 
which is structural only. This should take approximately 30 days. We 
are also working on a vessel for Marine Biology and Homeland. 

25. On November 13, 2018, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator emailed 

an update to investors falsely stating: 

I intend to return to my home in Southern California and on to Viking 
in DC to review the new drawings of the production vessel. The only 
changes to the vessel will be the size, they will be ten feet longer and 
ten wi~er and we will be installing foils in the center of the hull for lift, 
(there will only be one approval needed from Coastguard Washington 
DC. that takes 30 days) these changes will make it easier to get up on 
plane and will give us better stability (better ride / faster). We intend to 
do all seven locations in the USA at a sale price of $32 million USD 
each. ( cost to us is $6.5 million to manufacture, our net upfront is $10.5 
mil. The return on investment to fund 30 months at 65% booked) with 
a private equity fund, like Black Rock. They have eight to ten divisions 
that meet our requirements. These will be all joint ventures, we will 
operate and split the profits, to accomplish this, we will have the new 
plans 100% approved and built 100% to plans. We will be marketing 
the new vessels world-wide. 

26. On April 4, 2019, C. JACKSON held a conference call during which 
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he misrepresented to investors that one of the new additional vessels was "85% 

complete" and that BlackRock was entering into a joint venture with Semisub. 

27. C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator knew all of these statements were 

materially false and misleading. Semisub's purported fleet was nothing more than 

idea, Semisub did not have a relationship with or agreement to sell vessels to DHS, 

Pearl Harbor, or the University of Hawaii, and Semisub did not have a relationship 

with BlackRock. 

C. JACKSON's and His Co-Conspirator's Materially False and Misleading 
Statements About the Hawaii State Governor's Support and Endorsement of 

Semisub 

28. In furtherance of the scheme, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator 

falsely claimed they had a close relationship with Hawaii Governor David Ige, and 

that he was a large supporter of Semisub and had endorsed the company. For 

example, on May 11 , 2018, C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator emailed an update 

to investors, in which C. JACKSON falsely stated: "Just finished a 20 minute phone 

call with Governor Ige, the present seated Governor of Hawaii. Denise and I worked 

on his last campaign and we were not only invited to his inaugural ball but seated at 

the table next to him. I niade him aware of our situation. He has been a large 

supporter of Semisub and is eager to see us start operations and come out for our 

inaugural sail." 

29. C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator knew the statements in paragraph 

14 

Case 1:22-cr-00093-JMS   Document 126   Filed 10/12/23   Page 14 of 36  PageID.699



28 were false because Gove1nor Ige did not know C. JACKSON, his co-conspirator, 

or Semisub, and Gove1nor lge had not taken any steps to support or endorse· 

Semisub. 

C. JACKSON's and His Co-Conspirator's Attempt to Conceal the Scheme to 
Defraud by Misleading the Hawaii Securities Enforcement Board 

30. In or around 2017, the Hawaii Securities Enforcement Board ("SEB") 

opened an investigation into the offering and sale of securities by Semisub and the 

LLC. 

31. An SEB investigator spoke with C. JACKSON in 2017 and 2018 in 

connection with the investigation. C. JACKSON falsely told the SEB investigator 

that, among other things: (i) Semisub was no longer selling securities 

and had not sold any securities since around 2010 or 2011 ; (ii) the money raised 

from investors was spent on Semisub One, with the exception of a small "per diem" 

paid to C. JACKSON and his co-conspirator; and (iii) Semisub never sold securities 

to any investors residing in Pennsylvania. C. JACKSON knew that all of these 

statements were false because Semisub had continued to sell securities up to and 

after the dates on which he spoke with the SEB investigator; a substantial portion of 

the funds raised by selling Semisub securities was used by C. JACKSON and his co­

conspirator to support their lavish lifestyle; and Semi sub sold securities to investors 

residing in Pennsylvania (and elsewhere). C. JACKSON also attempted to deceive 

the SEB investigator into closing the matter by falsely claiming that BlackRock was 
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entering into a joint venture with Semisub to build and sell vessels around the world 

and that if the SEB did not close its investigation, it would jeopardize the deal and 

harm Semisub's investors. 

32. The same SEB investigator also spoke with. D. Jackson in 2018 and 

2019 in connection with the investigation. D. Jackson falsely told the SEB 

investigator that, among other things: (i) Semisub One had been approved by the 

Coast Guard; (ii) Semisub was working to manufacture additional vessels to sell for 

$35 million each; and (iii) C. JACKSON and D. Jackson had borrowed $6 million 

from the company and planned to pay it back as soon as Semisub One began 

operations. D. Jackson knew that all of these statements were false because Semi sub 

had not obtained a COI from the Coast Guard; Semisub had not taken any material 

steps toward manufacturing additional vessels to sell; and C. JACKSON and D. 

Jackson had not borrowed $6 million from the company. To the contrary, C. 

JACKSON and his co-conspirator had been personally enriching themselves at the 

investors' expense and had no intention or means to repay the large amount of money 

they had stolen. Like C. JACKSON, D. Jackson also pressured the SEB investigator 

to close the investigation as soon as possible. However, D. Jackson told the SEB 

investigator a different false story, namely that the SEB investigation was preventing 

Semisub from carrying out its plans to do an initial public offering and raise money 

from new investors. 
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C. JACKSON Threatened D. Jackson During the Government's Investigation 

33. No later than on or about March 16, 2022, C. JACKSON and D. 

Jackson were aware of a grand jury investigation concerning the activities of 

Semisub. C. JACKSON had participated in an interview with federal agents and 

been served with a target letter alerting him to a pending grand jury investigation. 

34. In or around March 2022, Gove1n~ent prosecutors and agents proposed 

meeting separately with C. JACKSON and D. Jackson through their respective 

counsel. D. Jackson had a meeting with prosecutors and agents scheduled for on or 

about March 24, 2022 to discuss the evidence in her case and her potential 

cooperation. 

3 5. On or about March 16, 2022, knowing that D. Jackson would soon meet 

with prosecutors and agents in the case, C. JACKSON sent D. Jackson a text 

message containing a link to an online video from THE SOPRANOS television show 

entitled "Death of FBI Informants" that highlighted the deaths on the program of 

individuals who cooperated with the FBI. D. Jackson replied to this message, "This 

is a threat to my life" and "threatening me will get you nowhere[.]" C. JACKSON 

replied, "I sent this to a bunch of people has nothing to do with you[.]" 
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, AT&T V/l•FI '? 

<• 
Curtn-s 

Our p~rtners hate you 

You will be in jail 

lod.:./ "J, 11 AM 

Satrlalo's on Faccbook 
Watch ) 
fth•,.1tch 

- --
lod11/ !.I /b ,\M 

This is a threat to my life. 

This is a threat to my life. 

-

Sent from my iPhone 

Begin forw,1rded message: 

From: Ciurtiss Jackson 
Date: MMch 16. 2022 .it 4:09:46 PM EDT 
To: denise jackson < 

Subject: Re: Screenshot 2022-03-16 at 9.27.50 AM 

I sent this to a bunch of people has nothing to do with you 

Sent from my iPhone 

On Mar 16, 2022, at 3:28 AM, denise jackson < 

Threatening me will get you nowhere 

C. JACKSON is Charged with Fraud and the Semisub One is 
Subject to Forfeiture Proceedings 

36. On or about October 20, 2022, C. JACKSON and D. Jackson were 

indicted in an eight-count indictment in the District of Hawaii charging them with 

securities fraud, conspiracy to commit mail and wire fraud, mail fraud, and wire 

fraud. Included in the Indictment was a Forfeiture Notice. 

37. The Forfeiture Notice provided notice to C. JACKSON that certain 

property was now subject to forfeiture proceedings before the Court, including "the 

semisubmersible vessel known as Semisub One." 
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38. At a hearing in the District of Hawaii before a U.S. Magistrate Judge 

on or about October 24, 2022, C. JACKSON acknowledged that he received a copy 

of the Indictment, he read it, he understood it, his counsel reviewed it with him, he 

did not have any questions about the Indictment, and he understood the summary 

and nature of the charges. 

39. On or about December 27, 2022, in the District of Hawaii, a U.S. 

Magistrate Judge held a telephonic bond revocation hearing concerning C. 

JACKSON's alleged violations of his pre-trial release conditions. At that hearing, 

the Judge ordered an in-person hearing to be held on January 5, 2023 at the U.S. 

District Court for the District of Hawaii to determine whether C. JACKSON should 

be detained pending trial. 

C. JACKSON Engaged in a Scheme to Withdraw Funds While 
Averting Federal Reporting Requirements 

40. Federal law requires that financial institutions, other than a casino, file 

a report of each deposit, withdrawal, exchange of currency, or other payment or 

transfer, by, through, or to such financial institution which involves a transaction in 

cunency of more than $10,000.00, except as otherwise provided in the relevant 

regulation. 31 C.F.R. § 1010.311 (promulgated under31 U.S.C. § 5313(a)). 

41. Beginning on or about January 3, 2023, C. JACKSON began to 

withdraw more than $24,000 of Semisub and personal funds and use the Semisub 

One to flee the United .States to avoid prosecution in this case and remove the 
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Semisub One from the tenitorial United States amidst the pending forfeiture 

proceedings. 

42. On or about January 3, 2023, C. JACKSON withdrew more than 

$24,000 in cash from three different First Hawaiian Bank locations · using four 

separate checking transactions (each under $10,000). As outlined in the chart below, 

at C. JACKSON's direction, one check was issued to C. JACKSON, another was 

issued to "cash," one to Individual A ( a Semisub employee), and the last to 

Individual B (a Semisub employee and C. JACKSON family member). Ultimately, 

C. JACKSON took possession of all of the cash withdrawn from these four checking 

transactions. 

Approx. 
Check 

Cashed 
Date of 

Number 
Account Payee Amount Memo 

Transaction 
FHB 

1/3/2023 203 
FHB 

Cash $7,000.00 Blank 
Kabala 

4373 (10:48 
am) 

FHB 

1/3/2023 1003 
FHB 

Cash 
$ 

Boat 
Kabala 

8075 8,000.00 (10:52 
am) 

FHB Individual $ Boat 
FHB 

1/3/2023 1080 Waikiki 
8075 A 5,000.00 Work 

(1:38 pm) 

FHB Individual $ Pay 
FHB 

1/3/2023 1081 Makiki 
8075 B 4,872.48 Boat 

(4:13 pm) 
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43. Between on or about January 3 and on or about January 4, 2023, 

Jackson also withdrew an additional $550 from three different ATMs, bringing his 

total cash withdrawals between on or about January 3 to on or about January 4, 2023 

to $25,532. 

44. Check 1081 was issued by Semisub, signed by Individual A, and made 

payable to Individual B. On or about January 4, 2023, an FHB employee assisting 

in the cashing of check 1081 called the check's signer (Individual A), who was also 

listed as an authorized individual on the Semisub account (FHB 8075). However, 

the phone number listed on the account belonged to C. JACKSON. The bank 

employee called the listed phone number and spoke to C. JACKSON, who 

fraudulently held himself out to be Individual A. Based on C. JACKSON's false 

representation that he was Individual A, FHB cashed check 1081 . 

45. C. JACKSON directed the four checks cashed on or about January 4, 

2023 in a manner to evade the federal reporting requirements and cause and attempt 

to cause FHB, a domestic financial institution, to fail to file a required cash 

transaction report. 

C. JACKSON Obstructed the Forfeiture Proceedings Related to the Semisub One 

46. On or about Januaiy 4, 2023-one day before his in-person court 

hearing-C. JACKSON loaded a garbage bag filled with clothes, multiple bags of 

food, and an envelope with more than $24,000 in cash onto the Semisub One. C. 
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JACKSON fueled the Semisub One despite that it already had sufficient fuel to reach 

drydock. C. JACKSON told Semisub One's crew to depart the vessel. C. 

JACKSON, alone on the Semisub One, then sailed the Semisub One past the 

horizon-at least 15 miles from the coast of the Kewalo Basin Harbor within the 

District of Hawaii-which is outside of U.S. territorial waters. 

47. C. JACKSON fled the United States with property subject to forfeiture 

proceedings in order to avoid his pretrial release revocation hearing and to steal the 

Semisub One, which lawfully belonged to Semisub's investors-not C. JACKSON. 
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COUNT ONE 

(15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b); 78ff; 17 C.F.R. § 240.l0b-5 - Securities Fraud) 

48. Paragraphs 1 through 32 of this Indictment are realleged and 

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

49. From a time unknown but no later than 2008, and continuing through 

at least in or around 2021, on the island of O'ahu, within the District of Hawaii, and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

CURTISS E. JACKSON, 

did knowingly and willfully, directly and indirectly, by use of the means and 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, and of the mails, in connection with the 

purchase and sale of securities, use and employ, and cause others to use and employ, 

manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances, in violation of Title 17, Code 

of Federal Regulations, Section 240.l0b-5 by: (a) employing, and causing others to 

employ, devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) making, and causing others 

to make, untrue statements of material fact and omitting to state, and causing others 

to omit to state, material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in 

the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and ( c) 
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engaging, and causing others to engage, in acts, practices, and courses of business 

which operated and would operate as a fraud and deceit upon persons, to wit: 

CURTISS E. JACKSON and his co-conspirator made materially false and 

misleading statements relating to Semisub; s business and operations, including 

Semisub's revenue and expenses, in connection with the sale of Semisub securities. 

All in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j and 78ff, Title 

17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.l0b-5, and Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 2. 

COUNTTWO 
(18 U.S.C. § 1349 - Conspiracy to Commit Mail Fraud and Wire Fraud) 

50. Paragraphs 1 through 32 of this Indictment are realleged and 

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

51 . From a time unknown but no later than 2008, and continuing through 

at least in or around 2021, on the island of O'ahu, within the District of Hawaii, and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

CURTISS E. JACKSON, 

24 

Case 1:22-cr-00093-JMS   Document 126   Filed 10/12/23   Page 24 of 36  PageID.709



did knowingly and intentionally, that is, with the intent to advance the conspiracy, 

combine, conspire, and agree with other individuals, known and unknown to the 

Grand Jury, to commit certain offenses against the United States, namely: 

a. mail fraud, that is, to knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, having 

devi$ed and intending to devise a scheme and aitifice to defraud, and to 

obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing such pretenses, 

representations, and promises were false and fraudulent when made, 

place and cause to be placed in a Post Office or authorized depository 

for mail a thing to be sent and delivered by the Postal Service or any 

private or commercial interstate can-ier, for the purpose of executing 

such scheme and artifice, specifically mailings relating to the offering 

and sale of Semisub, Inc. securities, in violation of Title 18, pnited 

States Code, Section 1341; and 

b. wire fraud, that is, to knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, having 

devised and intending to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud, and to 

obtain money and prope1iy by means of materially false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing such pretenses, 

representations, and promises were false and fraudulent when made, 

transmit and cause to be transmitted, by means of wire communications 
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in interstate and foreign commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures, 

and sounds, for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, 

specifically telephonic and email communications sent to and from 

actual and prospective purchasers of Semisub securities relating to the 

offer and sale of Semisub securities, and wire transfers from investors 

to Semisub, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 

Purpose of the Conspiracy 

52. Paragraph 8 of this Indictment is realleged and incorporated by 

reference as though fully set forth herein. 

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy 

53. Paragraphs 9 through 32 of this Indictment are realleged and 

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349. 
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COUNTS THREE THROUGH FIVE 
(18 U.S.C. § 1341 -Mail Fraud) 

54. Paragraphs 1 through 32 of this Indictment are realleged and 

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

55. From a time unknown but no later than 2008, and continuing through 

at least in or around 2021, on the island of O'ahu, within the District of Hawaii, and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

CURTISS E. JACKSON, 

together with his co-conspirators, known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did 

knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, having devised and intending to devise a 

scheme and artifice to defrauc;l, and to obtain money and property by means of 

materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing 

such pretenses, representations, and promises were false and fraudulent when made, 

place and cause to be placed in a Post Office or authorized depository for mail a 

thing to be sent and delivered by the Postal Service or any private or commercial 

interstate canier, for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice. 

Purpose 

56. Paragraph 8 of this Indictment is realleged and incorporated by 

reference as though fully set forth herein. 

Scheme and Artifice to Defraud 
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57. The Grand Jury realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 9 

through 32 of this Indictment as a description of the scheme and artifice to defraud. 

Use of Mails 

5 8. On or about the dates specified as to each count below, the defendant, 

CURTISS E. JACKSON, 

on the island of O'ahu, within the District of Hawaii, and elsewhere, for the purpose 

of executing the aforesaid scheme and artifice to defraud, and attempting to do so, 

did knowingly place and cause to be placed in a Post Office or authorized depository 

for mail a thing to be sent and delivered by the Postal Service or any private or 

commercial interstate can-ier: 

Coun 
Annrox. Date Descrintion of Mailing 

! 
F.T. sent from outside the state of Hawaii, via FedEx, 

3 May 25, 2018 a check to purchase Semisub securities to Semisub in 
the state of Hawaii 

K.F. sent from outside the state of Hawaii, via FedEx, 
4 August 1, 2019 a check to purchase Semisub securities to Semisub in 

the state of Hawaii 

November 25, 
D.M. sent from outside the state of Hawaii, via 

5 FedEx, a subscription agreement to purchase Semisub 
2019 

securities to Semisub in the state of Hawaii 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341. 
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COUNTS SIX THROUGH EIGHT 
(18 U.S.C. § 1343 - Wire Fraud) 

59. Paragraphs 1 through 32 of this Indictment are realleged and 

incorporated by reference as though fully set fmih herein. 

60. From a time unknown but no later than 2008, and continuing through 

at least in or around 2021, on the island of O' ahu, within the District of Hawaii, and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

CURTISS E. JACKSON, 

together with his co-conspirators, known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did 

knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, having devised and intending to devise a 

scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by means of 

materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing 

such pretenses, representations, and promises were false and fraudulent when made, 

transmit and cause to be transmitted, by means of wire communications in interstate 

and foreign commerce, writings, signals, pictures, and sounds, for the purpose of 

executing such scheme and artifice. 

Purpose 

61. Paragraph 8 of this Indictment is realleged and incorporated by 

reference as though fully set forth herein. 

Scheme and Artifice to Defraud 

62. The Grand Jury realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 9 

29 

Case 1:22-cr-00093-JMS   Document 126   Filed 10/12/23   Page 29 of 36  PageID.714



through 32 of this Indictment as a description of the scheme and artifice to defraud. 

Use of Wires 

63 . On or about the dates specified as to each count below, the defendant, 

CURTISS E. JACKSON, 

on the island of O'ahu, within the District of Hawaii, and elsewhere, together with 

their co-conspirators, both known and unknown to the Grand Jury, for the purpose 

of executing the aforesaid scheme and mtifice to defraud, and attempting to do so, 

did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted, by means of wire, radio, and 

television communication, writings, signals, pictures, and sounds in interstate and 

foreign commerce: 

Coun 
Am~rox. Date DescriRtion of Interstate Wire t 

6 May 11, 2018 
Investor update email sent from Hawaii to investors 
outside Hawaii, among others. 

7 
November 13, Investor update email sent from Hawaii to investors 

2018 outside Hawaii, among others. 

8 April 4, 2019 
Teleconference initiated from Hawaii to investors 
outside Hawaii, among others. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 
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COUNTNINE 
(18 U.S.C. § 1512(a)(2) - Witness Tampering) 

64. Paragraphs 33 through 35 of this Indictment are realleged and 

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

65. On or about March 16, 2022, on the island of O'ahu, within the District 

of Hawaii, and elsewhere, the defendant, 

CURTISS E. JACKSON, 

used the threat of physical force against D. Jackson, and attempted to do so, with 

intent to influence, delay, and prevent the testimony of any person in an official 

proceeding; cause and ind_uce D. Jackson to withhold testimony, or withhold a 

record, document, or other object, from an official proceeding; and hinder, delay, 

and prevent the communication to a law enforcement officer of information relating 

to the commission and possible commission of a Federal offense. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(a)(2). 
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COUNT TEN 
(18 U.S.C. § 1512(c)(2), 3147-

Obstruction of an Official Proceeding, Offense Committed While on Release) 

66. Paragraphs 36 through 39 and 46 through 47 of this Indictment are 

realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set fmth herein. 

67. On or about January 4, 2023, on the island of O'ahu, within the District 

of Hawaii, and elsewhere, the defendant, 

CURTISS E. JACKSON, 

did corruptly obstruct, influence, and impede the forfeiture of property subject to 

criminal forfeiture in a proceeding in the United States District Comt for the District 

of Hawaii, United States v. Cmtiss Jackson and Denise Jackson, 22-00093-JMS, an 

official proceeding, by removing, causing to be removed, and attempting to remove 

from the territorial United States water the semisubmersible vessel known as 

Semisub One, which CURTISS E . JACKSON then knew was the subject to criminal 

forfeiture by the United States. 

68. During the commission of the felony offense described above, 

defendant CURTISS E. JACKSON was released pursuant to Title 18, United States 

Code, Chapter 27, in the criminal case ofUnited States v . Cmtiss Jackson and Denise 

Jackson, 22-00093-JMS, in the United States District Court for the District of 

Hawaii. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1512(c)(2) and 
3147. 
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COUNT ELEVEN 
(31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(l); 18 U.S.C. § 3147 -

Structuring; Offense Committed While on Release) 

69. Paragraphs 40 through 4 7 of this Indictment are realleged and 

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

70. Between or about January 3, 2023 and on or about January 4, 2023 , on 

the island of O 'ahu, within the District of Hawaii, and elsewhere, the defendant, 

CURTISS E. JACKSON, 

did, for the purpose of evading the reporting requirements of Title 31, Section 

5313(a), and 31 C.F.R. § 1010.311, cause and attempt to cause a domestic financial 

institution, namely First Hawaiian Bank, to fail to file a report required under Title 

31, Section 5313(a), and 31 C.F.R. § 1010.31. 

71. During the commission of the felony offense described above, 

defendant CURTISS E. JACKSON was released pursuant to Title 18, United 

States Code, Chapter 27, in the criminal case of United States v. Curtiss Jackson 

and Denise Jackson, 22-00093-JMS, in the United States District Court for the 

District of Hawaii. 

All in violation of Title 31, United States Code, Sections 5324(a)(l) and 
3147. 
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FORFEITURE NOTICE 

1. The allegations contained in all paragraphs of Counts One through Eleven 

of this Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose 

of noticing forfeiture pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(l)(C), 

and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c). 

2. The United States hereby gives notice to the defendant charged in Counts 

One through Eight and Eleven of this Indictment that, upon conviction of one or 

more of the offenses charged in those counts, the government will seek forfeiture,' in 

accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 98l(a)(l)(C), and Title 28, 

United States Code, Section 2461(c), of any and all property, real or personal, that 

constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to the violations of Title 18, United 

States Code, Sections 1341, 1343, 1349, Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j 

and 78ff, Title 17, Title 31, United States Code, Section 31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(l), and 

Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.1 0b-5, alleged in Counts One through 

Eight and Eleven of this Indictment, including but not limited to the following: 

currency; 

a. A sum of money equal to at least $28,812,320.66 in United States 

b. The semisubmersible vessel known as Semisub One; 

c. All funds in the Central Pacific Bank Account in the name of 

SemiSub Inc. ending in 1930; 
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d. A sum of $24,600.00, currently held by IRS-Cl in a safe located 

at 1003 Bishop Street, Suite 1001, Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 , and 

assigned AFTRAK #91230008-01, and 

e. All right, title, and interest, including all appurtenances and 

improvements thereon, in the real property known as 4182 6th Ct. 

Lantana, FL 33462. 

3. If by any act or omission of the defendant, any of the property subject to 

forfeiture described in paragraph 2 herein: 

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third patty; 

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the comi; 

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or 

e. has been commingled with other propeity which cannot be 

subdivided without difficulty, the United States of America will be entitled to the 

forfeiture of substitute property up to the value of the prope1ty described above in 

paragraph 2, pursuant to Title 21 , United States Code, Section 853(p), as 

incorporated by Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c). 

I I 

I I 

I I 
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DATED: October 12, 2023, at Honolulu, Hawaii. 

c~-------

United States Attorney 

AISLINN AFFINITO 
Assistant U.S. Attorney · 
District of Hawaii 

~~~ 
Chief, Fraud Section 

CHRISTOPHER FENTON 
MATTHEW REILLY 
Trial Attorneys 
Fraud Section, Criminal Division 
United States Department of Justice 

A TRUE BILL 

FOREPERSON, GRAND JURY 
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